1957

Joseph G. Toombs v. Jack Donald Toombs et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an appeal by the plaintiff Joseph G. Toombs from a Decree entered by the Honorable John L. Sevy, Jr., sitting as Judge of the District Court of Box Elder County, which Decree was entered on the 27th day of February, 1957 (R. 520). The action was originally commenced on February 24, 1950, by the filing of a Complaint by the plaintiff for the purpose of imposing a

constructive trust, with respect to the defendants, Jack Donald Toombs, Roland J. Toombs, and Alma Toombs, on certain real property situated in Box Elder County, near Promontory, Utah, and known as the Cedar Springs property (R. 490-492). The Plaintiff is the nephew of the defendant Alma Toombs, and a cousin of Roland J. Toombs, who is the son of the said Alma Toombs. Jack Donald Toombs is the son of Roland Toombs, and the grandson of Alma Toombs. It is therefore evident that the defendants are in close relationship one with the other, not only by family but also by reason of their activities conjointly in operating land adjacent to the Cedar Springs land in Box Elder County. Since the action was commenced, the defendant Jack Donald Toombs has died, so that Roland J. Toombs and Emma Toombs, his wife, distributees of the estate of Jack Donald Toombs, deceased, have been substituted as parties defendant in place and instead of the said Jack Donald Toombs (R. 515). Likewise defendant Edris Glasmann and J. M. Toombs were dismissed as parties defendant so the action now remains against Roland J. Toombs individually and Roland J. Toombs and Emma Toombs, his wife, as distributees of the estate of Jack Donald Toombs, deceased, and Alma J. Toombs.

The land involved was originally acquired in two separate contiguous tracts consisting of 186½ acres and 60 acres. Plaintiff's claim, as set forth in his Complaint, is twofold: With respect to the 186½-acre tract, plaintiff claims that he is the owner of an undivided 1/3 interest therein by reason of having joined with his father, Jo-

seph M. Toombs, back in approximately 1906, in purchasing this land from the defendant Alma Toombs. Plaintiff further claims that he paid through labor a sum equivalent to 1/3 of the purchase price and has at all times since the time of purchase been the owner of a 1/3 undivided interest, although the title to the property was taken in the name of Joseph M. Toombs.

The other theory of plaintiff's claim for a constructive trust relates to the entire tract of property consisting of 246½ acres (independently of the 1/3 undivided interest claimed by the plaintiff as to a 1/3 interest in the 186½ acres). With respect to the entire tract of land the plaintiff claims that at the time the title to the property was acquired by them, said defendants were under obligation to the plaintiff by oral agreement to acquire said land for him and in his name, and that because of such agreement and by reason of their relationship one with the other and to the plaintiff, the court should impose a constructive trust on the property for the benefit of the plaintiff. (R. 490-492)

In their Answer first filed herein, defendants admitted:

“That on or about the 21st day of March, A. D. 1913, plaintiff and his father, J. M. Toombs, purchased from the defendant Alma Toombs land in Box Elder County, State of Utah, described as follows: The SW¼ of Section 34, Township 11 North, Range 7 West, S.L.M.; also, beg. at the SE corner of the SW¼ of said section 34, thence running East 53 rods, thence North 80 rods, thence

West 53 rods, thence South 80 rods to beg., containing 186 $\frac{1}{2}$ acres, more or less.” (R. 493)

Defendants further admitted:

“that the defendant Alma Toombs, on or about the 20th day of October, A. D. 1948, entered into an oral agreement with and between the plaintiff to purchase certain described land in the county of Box Elder, State of Utah, in consideration whereof the plaintiff was to reconvey certain land located in Box Elder County, State of Utah, to the defendant, Alma Toombs. That the defendant Alma Toombs purchased and paid for said land and had the same placed in the name of his grandson, Jack Donald Toombs, a minor.” (R. 494)

As a “Second Defense” to plaintiff’s Complaint, and by further answer to paragraph V of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendants alleged that the oral agreement with and between plaintiff and defendant Alma Toombs:

“was simply one for the purchase and sale of real estate. Under said agreement the parties above named were dealing with each other as co-principals and not as principal and agent. Therefore, the oral agreement fails within the provisions of Title 33, Chap. 5, Section 3 of the Utah Code Annotated 1943, providing that every contract for the sale of land or an interest therein shall be void unless the contract or some note or memorandum thereof is in writing. Further, that the agreement entered into between the parties above named was one for the joint benefit of both parties. Said agreement cannot be enforced under the provisions of Utah Code Annotated above cited, unless the same, or some memorandum, is in writing.” (R. 494)

This Answer was filed in the Court on March 17, 1950. Thereafter, on March 25, 1950, defendants filed an Amended Answer in which the admissions made as set out above were eliminated and the allegations of the Complaint with respect to such matters were denied (R. 497, 498).

Plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint September 7, 1950 (R. 500-505), which was answered by the defendants on September 22, 1950 (R. 506-510). The case was tried by the Court without a jury beginning December 4, 1950 (R 1), and was taken under advisement on January 13, 1951, at the conclusion of the trial.

Counsel for the respective parties filed written briefs with the Court. Thereafter, on March 17, 1952, the Court rendered a Memorandum Decision stating generally that the Court found "in favor of the defendants and against the plaintiff, no cause of action." The Court further directed defense counsel to prepare Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Decree "in accordance herewith." Notwithstanding this direction, no action was taken by defendants or their counsel until after plaintiff, in February, 1956, filed a Motion requesting the Court "to withdraw its Memorandum Decision filed herein, and to reopen the case for the purpose of allowing counsel to reargue and resubmit the matter either with or without additional testimony" (R. 512). During the interim of approximately four years numerous attempts had been made by counsel for plaintiff to have the Court enter Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decree, and

the Court in turn had made numerous requests upon defense counsel to prepare Findings, Conclusions, and Decree. As stated by plaintiff's counsel in the Motion to Reopen, counsel for defendant had "neglected, failed, and refused to submit any Findings to the Court, so that the Court has not been in a position fully and completely to pass upon the merits of the case, and to make an intelligent and complete analysis of the issues for the purpose of preparing and making its Findings and Conclusions herein" (R. 512, 513).

This Motion was argued before the Court on April 11, 1956, up to which time counsel for defendants had still failed to draft any proposed Findings, Conclusions, or Decree. Following the argument on Motion the Court refused to reopen the case and again directed defendants to prepare Findings and Conclusions to be submitted for approval and signature. Such Findings, Conclusions, and Decree were submitted and signed by the Court on February 27, 1957.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

In connection with this appeal, Plaintiff contends:

1. The trial court erred in refusing to reopen the case after a lapse of more than five years after the case had been tried and more than four years after counsel for defendants had failed to prepare Findings and Conclusions for the Court's approval.

2. The Findings as ultimately entered by the Court on February 27, 1957, are not supported by the evidence

but are contrary thereto insofar as the Findings are in favor of the defendants and against plaintiff.

3. The Judgment and Decree are not supported by the evidence.

4. The evidence in the case requires a finding that Plaintiff is the owner of a $\frac{1}{3}$ undivided interest in and to approximately $186\frac{1}{2}$ acres by reason of having purchased the same with his father, J. M. Toombs.

5. The evidence requires a finding by the Court that defendants hold the real property in question in trust for the use and benefit of the plaintiff upon the payment by the plaintiff of the amount paid by defendants for said property, and that defendants should account to plaintiff for all the rents, issues, and profits received by them from said property during the time the same has been in their possession.

For convenience of the Court and to consolidate the foregoing points for argument, plaintiff proposes to argue the same under the following categories :

I. Error of the trial court in failing to find that plaintiff is the owner of a $\frac{1}{3}$ undivided interest in approximately $186\frac{1}{2}$ acres of land purchased by him with his father, J. M. Toombs.

II. Error of the trial court in failing to impose a constructive trust in respect to all of the real property consisting of approximately $246\frac{1}{2}$ acres and requiring defendants to account to plaintiff for the rents, issues and profits received therefrom.

III. Error of the trial court in refusing to reopen the case.

ARGUMENT

I

ERROR OF THE TRIAL COURT IN FAILING TO FIND THAT PLAINTIFF IS THE OWNER OF A $1/3$ UNDIVIDED INTEREST IN APPROXIMATELY $186\frac{1}{2}$ ACRES OF LAND PURCHASED BY HIM WITH HIS FATHER, J. M. TOOMBS.

In order for the Court to make an accurate appraisal of the evidence of this case as it relates to Appellant's Points I and II, a synopsis of the testimony of each of the witnesses is herein reported.

The plaintiff Joseph G. Toombs testified that he and his father bought the quarter section of land in 1907 (R. 8) and that the deed was issued in about 1913 (R. 15). In 1948 plaintiff learned that his sister Edris Glasmann had obtained a deed from their father to the property; (R. 23) that thereafter plaintiff had made several attempts to purchase the property and on one occasion had accepted an offer made to him by Mrs. Glasmann, through her husband, to purchase the property for Forty-five Hundred Dollars (\$4,500.00). However, this offer and acceptance had been withdrawn by Mrs. Glasmann so that he did not get the property for that amount (R. 24-30).

Plaintiff talked on several occasions to the defendant Alma Toombs (his uncle and brother of Joseph

Toombs, the father) about buying the property. On one occasion (the day before the property was acquired) the defendant Alma Toombs came to his home and in the presence of other witnesses drew on a notebook a diagram of the property showing that a house and other improvements (which Alma Toombs believed was on his property adjoining) was in fact on the property in question. This diagram was identified as Exhibit No. 2 and admitted in evidence (R. 30-32). At that time Alma agreed with the plaintiff that if the plaintiff would sell Alma approximately two acres on which said improvements were located, said defendant Alma Toombs would go down to Ogden and purchase the property in question for the plaintiff. Plaintiff agreed to allow Alma to do this and thereupon did not go to Ogden the following morning when the property was sold. (R. 30-32) In fact, plaintiff testified that when he was contacted by telephone he told them to sell the property to Al. (R. 89) Upon returning from Ogden Alma told the plaintiff that he had bought the property and agreed to get together in a day or two and fix the matter up (R. 33). Thereafter plaintiff saw the defendant Roland Toombs and at that time Roland stated that the title to the land had been put in the hands of Roland's son. (R. 33)

On cross-examination the plaintiff testified that his sister Edris Glasmann and the others would not have given him a chance to buy the property if it were not for the fact that plaintiff's father had insisted and that if plaintiff's father "were here today he would testify to it." (R. 89) He identified Exhibit 3 which is an Affidavit

executed by the father Joseph Toombs with respect to the property. Exhibit 3 was admitted in evidence; (R. 109-110) and reads in part as follows:

“A number of years ago my son, Joseph and I, entered into an agreement with my brother, Alma Toombs, whereby we agreed to purchase 186.50 acres of ground in Sec. 34, Twp. 11 N.R. 7 W., SLM, known as Cedar Springs property in Box Elder County, Utah. This is sage brush land with some cedars on it. My son Joseph fenced part of same about four years ago, and I told him to go ahead and use the land, or my share of same, for pasture, to reimburse him for the work and material for fencing. Before that time it was a part of the open range.

* * * * *

“Sometime ago I made a deed in favor of my daughter Edris Glasmann as I was owing doctor's bill and hospital fee, covering the 186.50 acres known as the Cedar Springs property. . . . I advised my son-in-law, A. L. Glasmann that my son Joseph was to have the first chance to buy the land at Cedar Springs for a less price than other people would pay for same, and I wanted the money obtained from the sale to pay my hospital and doctor bills.”

The plaintiff further testified that he and his Uncle “Al” had various business dealings in the past; that they had worked quite closely together; and that plaintiff placed considerable trust and confidence in his uncle, particularly in agreeing to let him go down to Ogden and buy the property for the plaintiff. (R. 100)

Arnold Christensen testified that he had agreed to make a bid of Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000.00) for the

Cedar Springs property on behalf of Joseph G. Toombs, the plaintiff. On cross-examination he described the transaction as follows :

“A. Well, they mentioned that. The question was put to me, or I put it up to them. I came to buy the place and asked them what they had. Asked them if it would be fair if they gave me the bid. They mentioned the highest bid. I said, ‘If I beat the bid I want to buy it.’ And they agreed to do that. They agreed to sell me the land. If I beat the bid what they were bid, and I bid them \$5,000 cash. Then they wanted to give their Uncle Al a chance. This one lady said, ‘We better give Uncle Al a chance.’ ”

* * * * *

“A. Well, when I came back again about a week after, I honked him out and he came out to my car and he said, ‘You won’t need to go any more to make a bid on it. My Uncle Al is bidding it in for me.’ ”

Alexander Dickey testified that in the year 1942 while on a water survey at Cedar Springs he had a conversation with Alma Toombs, who was constructing a granary on a water survey at Cedar Springs he had a conversation. The conversation also included Mr. Joseph G. Toombs, the plaintiff. At that time Alma Toombs pointed out to Mr. Dickey the dividing line between Alma Toombs’ property and the property belonging to Joseph G. Toombs and stated to Mr. Dickey that Joseph G. Toombs owned a 1/3 interest in the field lying adjacent to his (Alma Toombs) land and immediately south of his house. (R. 124, 125) He further testified that J. M. Toombs, father of the plaintiff, told the witness that plaintiff owned

62½ acres of the Cedar Springs property and that he had fed cattle for it. (R. 124)

Mr. Dickey testified that on the evening of October 18, 1948, when he was about to go into the home of plaintiff and had gotten out of his car, another car pulled up ahead of him and because of that the witness did not go into the home but decided to come back the next day. The following morning Joseph Toombs told him that his Uncle "Al" had gone down to Ogden to buy the Cedar Springs property for plaintiff. (R. 132)

On cross-examination Mr. Dickey testified that the reason he had gone to J. M. Toombs was that he was interested in finding out who discovered Cedar Springs (R. 128). He again repeated that J. M. Toombs told him that Joe owned about 62½ acres which he had paid for by feeding cattle for Alma Toombs. (R. 128-129)

Edward L. Thorsted testified that he is the son-in-law of the plaintiff; that he was in plaintiff's home in the forepart of October, 1948, when a conversation took place involving Alma Toombs and his wife, Joseph Toombs and his wife, and the witness and his wife. That on such occasion he was introduced to Alma Toombs who seemed excited about a land survey which had just been made which had found that his home and granary and water troughs were over on Joe's property. On that occasion Alma Toombs told plaintiff:

"A. . . 'I'll purchase all that land for you, Joe, if you will sell me that small portion that my house and granary and the water trough is on.'

And father-in-law says, 'You know that I own that portion of land,' and he says, 'Yes, I remember you worked for that and paid for it.' Well, my father-in-law says, 'Well, if you purchase that land,' he says, 'I'll give you that small portion of land your property is on.' And Mr. Alma Toombs says, 'That would be swell.' He says he didn't want there's fellow named Christensen that he mentioned that he said he didn't want him to get hold of the land, because he was sure he wouldn't be able to purchase the land from him, and he would lose his home and all.'" (R 135)

Wayne Toombs, plaintiff's son, testified that he and his father ran cattle and horses on the Cedar Springs property for as long as he could remember. He detailed the manner and method of operating the Cedar Springs property from 1939 until 1948. (R. 141) He further stated that for several years during this period of time he and his father had exchanged with the defendant Alma Toombs use of the Cedar Springs property and the property which Alma Toombs owned adjacent thereto. (R. 144, 145) He further testified to a conversation which his father and Alma Toombs had just prior to "Peach Day" in the latter part of August or the first part of September, 1948, as follows :

"A. Well, I drove up in front of the place and dad and Al was sitting on the fence there talking about the Cedar Springs property at that time. And dad was telling him, 'I don't believe they'd sell it to me, because . . . they were mad at me.' And Al said he would go down and buy it for my father.

"Q. What did your father say to that?

“A. Well, dad said that he’d be glad to have him do, because he wanted it.” (R. 146, 147)

The witness testified that later in October he overheard a conversation between defendant Alma Toombs and his father as follows:

“Al was pretty excited about the property at Cedar Springs. He said they had it surveyed and he found out that his house and his barn and his corals, water trough, was over on the Cedar Springs property there. And he said he had been down to try to buy that piece of ground off from them, but they would not sell it to him. He said he could buy it all, but he didn’t want it all because he had enough ground as it was and he wanted dad to buy it, and Al said he would go buy it for him.” (R. 148)

After a deed had been obtained to the land in the name of the defendant Jack Toombs, several conversations occurred between the plaintiff Joseph Toombs and the defendant Roland Toombs or Alma Toombs or both. The witness testified that on one occasion in the presence of a Mr. David Richards the following conversation took place:

“A. We discussed the boundaries. We drew the place out on a piece of board and we were discussing how things were there. Roland said he would like to keep four rods east of the house and running north over to the end of that forty. And I said, ‘Well, gosh! you don’t need that much.’ ‘Well,’ he said, ‘I’d like to keep on a straight fence.’ We asked him why he wanted it, and he said he didn’t have no dooryard left there if he didn’t get some ground there. And we told him we wouldn’t let him have the four rods clear

through, but we agreed to let him have two rods in front of his house and leave the fence south of his house where it was. As Roland went to go he says, 'Well,' he says, 'My father has gone to California. I would like to wait until he gets back before I turn the deeds.' We said, 'How long will that be?' And he says, 'About three weeks.' Well, we agreed that probably that was all right.' (R. 154)

Nellie Toombs, wife of the plaintiff, testified as to her knowledge of the use and occupation of the land in question by the plaintiff during the years preceding 1948. With respect to the conversation which occurred in their home in the early part of October, 1948, the witness testified:

"A. Well, he told Joe that it was a big section and he just had it surveyed, and, of course, I told that once. The improvements were all over on Joe's land. He says, 'I don't know what I'm going to do. I've been down to Ogden to buy this land, and they won't sell it to me.' And he seemed very angry at the Glasmanns. He says, 'They're trying to sell the water to Brownings, and Christensen and Mr. Hendricks are trying to buy the land also, and I don't want them in there. Now, Joe, he says, 'I've got all the land I want. I don't want any more, and if you want me to buy this land for you.' He says, 'You can't buy it if you go down there. They're mad at you, they won't sell it to you.' He says, 'I'll go down and buy it. I think I can buy it.' Then he asked Joe if he'd give him this two acres, deed him this two acres, and Joe says, 'I'll give you the two acres if you get the land for me, Uncle Al.' " (R. 181, 182)

The witness further testified that she was present

the night before Alma Toombs went to Ogden to purchase the land at which time the following conversation ensued:

“A. He says, ‘Joe, they’re selling the place in the morning.’ And Joe says, ‘Yes, I’ve heard they are.’ And he says, ‘They’re going to call you up, but,’ he says, ‘You turn that down, because they will not sell it to you.’ He says, ‘Your dad wants you to have it, but Glasmann does not want you to have it, but I can buy it.’ And he says, ‘If you’ll secure my property around there, those two acres, I’ll go down and buy it and turn it over to you.’ ” (R. 184, 185)

OWEN L. BROUGH testified that he was the County Treasurer of Box Elder County between 1935 and 1947. He identified plaintiff’s Exhibit 6 as comprising tax notices for several years; that he had a personal recollection of having received taxes from Joe Toombs and that Joe Toombs had paid taxes on the Cedar Springs property in the years 1939 and 1942 of his own recollection. (R. 200, 204)

DAVID RICHARDS, an elderly gentlemen of 70 years of age, testified that he was acquainted with the Cedar Springs land and that he had arranged with Joe Toombs on many occasions to run cattle on the property. He was present at a conversation which occurred between Joe Toombs and the defendant Roland Toombs in the month of November, 1948, at the plaintiff’s home. At this conversation Wayne Wayne Toombs was also present. The witness testified as follows:

“Q. And will you tell us what took place at that time?

“A. Why, this gentleman back here, Roland Toombs, he came around the south of the house here and stepped up to Joe and Wayne and he says, ‘Joe,’ he says, ‘I’ve come to see what you intend to do about that Cedar Springs property.’ Joe says, ‘Just as I agreed to do.’ He says, ‘What was that agreement?’ He says he agreed to turn that part of the barn and house is over to his father if he would buy the other part for him.

“Q. Then what was said?

“A. Then he says, ‘We had them put it in Jack’s name to keep him out of the draft,’ and he says, ‘If you let us keep it in Jack’s name until spring, we’ll turn it over to you.’

“Q. What if anything did Joseph Toombs say?

“A. Well, he got kind of huffy and says, ‘What did you do that for? I don’t know what you put it in his name for. You had no right to.’”
(R. 212, 213)

ABINADI TOLMAN testified that he was well acquainted with the parties to the matter as well as with the property in question; that he had discovered from examination of the records that the title to the land appeared to be in the name of J. M. Toombs and had therefore contacted Mr. J. M. Toombs for the purpose of leasing the property on an Oil and Gas Lease (215-217). At that time Mr. J. M. Toombs told the witness that his son Joseph G. (plaintiff) owned the north third or 62½ acres of the property (R 2173. Mr. Tolman likewise gave an accurate account of the conversation which took place in the home of the plaintiff on the evening preceding the sale

of the land in question. He fixed the date as October 18th, and testified concerning Alma's promise:

"A. Well, he said, 'If you go down'—he said, 'Your father wants you to get the place.' And he said, 'If you should go down there, Joe, you'd only get in a squabble with your sisters, and I've made arrangements that I can buy the place, but I don't need it and don't want it. If you will deed me the land that my house and granary is on.' Later in the conversation he repeated it several times. He said, 'My house and the trough, water trough.' And then Joe says, 'Well, how is that?' 'Well,' he said, 'I've had Mr. Griffiths out and survey it, and he finds that's a large section, and so he said in equalizing the land there my house comes under your 62½ acres.' And so he took his finger and he drew how it was, and then he said to Mrs. Toombs, 'Have you got a piece of paper here?' And Mrs. Toombs got up and she turned the light on as she did. The light didn't shine directly at me, but I could see Mr. Alma Toombs because he sat directly from me, but I was in the shadows of the lamp. And she got the paper and he drew how it was. And he had, running from the quarter section, running east, he drew it so you could see it was crooked running off a good many degrees north of east, but he took his pencil after he got through and said, 'This is all I want is this piece right here. It's about two or two and a half acres.' " (R. 221, 222)

He identified the writing as Plaintiff's Exhibit 3 and further testified:

"A. 'Well,' he said, 'your father wants you to have it, Joe,' and he said, 'They'll call you in the morning. They'll call you in the morning, and all you have to do is say that I'm going to buy it.'

And I don't know. Of course, in the conversation that came up several times during the time he was there." (R. 221, 223)

LOIS THORSTED, daughter of plaintiff, testified that she worked in the Box Elder County Treasurer's Office from 1938 to 1945 and was acquainted with the procedure for mailing tax notices; that she was likewise acquainted with the Cedar Springs property. (R. 228, 230) During the time she worked in the Treasurer's Office her father paid the taxes on the Cedar Springs property each year except for two occasions, on when she paid them and one when her grandfather J. M. Toombs paid them. (R. 321)

On cross-examination she testified that her father paid the taxes on the Cedar Springs property in cash while he paid taxes on other property in his own name by check, stating to her that he did not want to get the matter mixed up for income tax purposes. R. 239)

In addition to the foregoing witnesses who testified for plaintiffs, plaintiff introduced portion of depositions of defendants taken by plaintiff, in which defendants testified as follows:

ALMA TOOMBS testified plaintiff asked him if he would go down and get a deed for the plaintiff and Alma told plaintiff he would do so. (R. 344) After the property had been purchased the defendant testified that "Roland agreed to turn it over to him." Roland "came in and told me he was going to let Joe have it back." (R. 347)

ROLAND TOOMBS testified that he knew plaintiff claimed an interest in the property before he went to Ogden about buying it; (R. 349) that his father Alma said he had promised to buy it for plaintiff and "I heard him say he would buy this before I went to Ogden." This could have been as much as two weeks or more before land was acquired. (R. 351)

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