1957

Joseph G. Toombs v. Jack Donald Toombs et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE EVIDENCE IN THIS CASE FULLY SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING AND CONCLUSION THAT THE PLAINTIFF DID NOT OWN ANY PART OF THE LAND HERE IN QUESTION.

In the brief of appellant under the argument on this point, counsel use a total of twenty-four pages to detail and summarize the evidence favorable to them on both this point and the succeeding one, and in these twenty-four pages no authority of any kind is cited. We have under the statement of facts in this respondents' brief summarized the evidence favorable to the respondents. And, although it is repetitious, we maintain that the only evidence, other than the appellant's own statement, is contained in the affidavit quoted in appellant's brief which affidavit was never admitted in evidence.

It would be proper to conclude the argument under this point with the statement that this Court has many times stated and held that it will not on appeal disturb the findings of the trial court if there is any substantial evidence supporting those findings and we submit here that there was a complete lack of evidence to support any other finding. This Court has also recently stated that the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the respondent upon appeal. *Beck v. Jeppesen*, 1 Utah 2d 127, 262 P. 2d 760, and *Malstrom v. Consolidated Theatres*, 4 Utah 2d 181, 290 P. 2d 689.

POINT II.

THE EVIDENCE IN THIS CASE FULLY SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS AND CONCLUSION THAT THERE WAS NO CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST TO BE IMPOSED UPON THE PROPERTY HERE INVOLVED.

Appellant commences his argument on this point with reference to the alleged promise of the defendant, Alma Toombs, to buy this property for appellant. We believe the record fairly and reasonably shows and supports a finding that, if any such promise had been made, it was rescinded. But, and of much more significance is the question as to what appellant proposes to do with the defendant, Roland Toombs, who was at least a joint purchaser. No where in his argument does he request that a constructive trust be imposed as against Roland and in the entire brief of appellant there is not one reference to Exhibits A and J which have been mentioned many times in this brief.

Corpus Juris Secundum in its treatise on trusts contains three general statements, all supported by a multitude of cases, and any one of these three statements wholly and completely and conclusively sustains the judgment entered by the trial court on the facts as here presented.

The first statement reads as follows:

“More precisely, some fraudulent or unfair and unconscionable conduct is essential to create a constructive trust, and there must be some unjust enrichment on the part of the trustee by something passing from the beneficiary or from someone else

on the beneficiary's behalf." 89 C. J. S. § 139 at p. 1022.

We submit that the trial court was entitled to find that no evidence was presented sufficient to fulfill this requirement.

The second statement is this:

"Likewise, a denial that any trust exists, or a resort to the statute of frauds to defeat the enforcement of a parol trust or obligation, is not such a fraud as to give rise to a constructive trust." 89 C. J. S. § 139 at p. 1024.

This statement needs no elaboration other than the comment that the statute of frauds itself is intended to discourage frauds and perjuries that would otherwise be committed by reason of the vagaries of the human mind and memory.

And finally the statement is made that:

"A high and extraordinary degree of proof is required in order to establish a constructive trust, and the evidence must be clear, definite, unequivocal and satisfactory, or such as to lead to but one conclusion, or as to leave no reasonable doubt as to the existence of the trust." 89 C. J. S. § 158 at p. 1079.

We cannot too greatly emphasize that the entire record falls far short of the requirement thus imposed and would support only the result reached by the trial court.

The Utah case of *Jensen v. Howell*, 75 Utah 64, 282 Pac. 1034, holds that:

"* * * The general rule also is that, to establish a trust by parol, the evidence must be clear,

unequivocal, and explicit, the property which is the subject-matter of the trust clearly and distinctly, and the purposes of the trust plainly, indicated, as well as the person or persons who are to be the beneficiaries. *Skeen v. Marriott*, supra; 1 *Perry on Trusts*, supra; *Beach on Trusts*, § 52. And, as expressed in many of the adjudicated cases, the evidence must be 'clear, satisfactory, and convincing.' *Sheenan v. Sullivan*, 126 Cal. 189, 58 P. 543, and cases there cited." * * *

And, in this same case on page 1039 of the Pacific Reporter, the Court makes the following observations as to the evidence in that case:

"Though the admissions as testified to by plaintiffs should be regarded as having been made, yet the testimony with respect thereto is as frail and ineffectual to establish a trust in the property in question as is the testimony of the plaintiffs as to the declarations of the grantor prior to the making of the transfers. The admissions as testified to are just as equivocal, indefinite, and uncertain as to the property, the subject-matter of the trust, the nature, degree, and tenure of interest granted the wife, and as to what was to be given the plaintiffs. Such vague, indefinite, and enigmatical expressions and statements as testified to as admissions, unsupported as they are by other facts and circumstances, or by conduct of the parties, cannot be regarded as being sufficient to create a trust and especially not to overcome the admitted written evidence of the conveyances and transfers of absolute and unconditional title of property possessed and controlled by the grantee as her own for these many years, and thereby divest her or her heirs of such title. Even though the whole of the evidence on behalf of the plaintiffs, when considered together, be regarded as

sufficient to support a finding of the alleged trust, yet, when the whole of the evidence in the record, that of the plaintiffs and of the defendants, and all the facts and circumstances shown therein, are considered together, we think it manifest that such a finding is against the clear weight of the evidence."

In the case of *Carpenter & Carpenter v. Kingham*, 109 P. 2d 463, 56 Wyo. 314, the Supreme Court of Wyoming states:

"If we assume, however, that Kingham made the statement that he would protect plaintiff along with himself, the statement is altogether too vague and indefinite upon which to found a constructive trust. Counsel for defendant thinks that it means that defendant would protect plaintiff in the pending suit, but that there was nothing to protect. Perhaps so. We might conjecture numerous other meanings. In *Dunn v. Dunn*, 59 Idaho 473, 83 P. 2d 471, 474, the court stated that 'a constructive trust cannot arise out of vague, indefinite, ambiguous or casual statements or declarations. It must be established by reasonably clear and definite statements or declarations or equally clear and definite evidence of acts and conduct to that effect.' In *Rubin v. Midlinsky*, supra [321 Ill. 436, 152 N. E. 219], the court stated that 'while counsel do not clearly state the character of trust which they contend exists here, we gather that it is sought to establish a constructive trust. While such trust may be established by parol testimony, the proof must be clear and convincing, and so strong, unequivocal, and unmistakable as to lead to but one conclusion.' 3 Bogert on Trusts and Trustees, § 472, states: 'As with the proof of express and resulting trusts, so in the case of the establishment of constructive trusts, the courts have announced that they require "clear

and convincing” evidence. Other judicial expressions are even stronger in their demands. “If the evidence is doubtful or capable of reasonable explanation upon a theory other than the existence of the trust, it is not sufficient to support a decree declaring and enforcing the trust.” Sometimes the requirement is stated to be that the facts leading to the decree establishing the constructive trust must be proved “by greater weight than the mere preponderance of the evidence” or beyond a reasonable doubt. These statements reflect judicial caution in accepting oral evidence which is intended to contradict absolute conveyances in deeds and wills and overturn record titles.’ ”

Under all of the circumstances of this case and the authorities above quoted, we respectfully urge that it would have been error for the trial court to have imposed a constructive trust here.

POINT III.

THERE WAS NO ERROR IN THE TRIAL COURT’S REFUSAL TO REOPEN THIS CASE.

We have carefully read appellant’s argument concerning this point as set forth in his brief and we are of the opinion that he has answered it himself. If counsel for one side or the other believe that their opposition is dilatory in the preparation of such findings, the rules clearly permit such counsel to prepare and submit the findings of their own. We respectfully submit that the motion to reopen was directed to the sound discretion of the trial court and nothing has been here presented to show an abuse of that discretion.

On page 52 of appellant's brief appears the statement "the trial court manifestly abused its discretion in refusing to reopen the matter after more than five years had elapsed from the submission of the case to it." Appellant again assumes that there are facts in the record to support such a contention whereas there are none.

CONCLUSION

This Court, in the recent case of *Haws v. Jensen*, 116 Utah 212, 209 P. 2d 229, said:

"The scope of the review of facts in equity cases has long been settled in this jurisdiction. In *Stanley v. Stanley*, 97 Utah 520, 94 P. 2d 465, 466, we quoted with approval from *Olivers v. Eleganti*, 61 Utah 475, 214 P. 313, 315, where we stated that in equity cases, 'the findings of the trial courts on conflicting evidence will not be set aside unless it manifestly appears that the court has misapplied proven facts or made findings clearly against the weight of the evidence.' "

We respectfully submit that the judgment of the trial court is entitled to the full affirmance of this Court.